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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE 

NASHVILLE DIVISION 
 
DANIEL RENTERIA-VILLEGAS; DAVID  ) 
GUTIERREZ-TURCIOS; ROSA LANDAVERDE, )        
       ) Case No. 3:11-cv-218 

Plaintiffs,    ) 
       ) Senior Judge John T. Nixon 

v.      )  
       ) Magistrate Judge Joe Brown 
METROPOLITAN GOVERNMENT OF   ) 
NASHVILLE AND DAVIDSON COUNTY;  )  
UNITED STATES IMMIGRATION AND   )       
CUSTOMS ENFORCEMENT,   ) 
       ) 
  Defendants.    ) 

THIRD AMENDED COMPLAINT  
 

Come now Plaintiffs Daniel Renteria-Villegas (“Renteria”), David Ernesto Gutierrez-

Turcios (“Gutierrez”), and Rosa Landaverde (“Landaverde”), by and through their undersigned 

counsel, and hereby file this Third Amended Complaint against Defendant Metropolitan 

Government of Nashville and Davidson County (“Metro Government”) and Defendant United 

States Immigration and Customs Enforcement Agency (“ICE”). 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT  

1. This is an action for declaratory and injunctive relief and damages. Plaintiffs seek 

a declaration of their rights and a construction of the validity under the Metropolitan Charter of 

Nashville and Davidson County (“Metro Charter”) of a 2009 Memorandum of Agreement 

between the Metro Government and ICE, as well as the Metro Council Resolution approving the 

Agreement. See Certified Copy of Metro Charter §§ 16.05 and 8.202, attached as Exhibit 1. See 

also Memorandum of Agreement (“287(g) Agreement”), attached as Exh. 2. See also Copy of 

Metro Council Resolution 2009-997, attached as Exh. 3. Because the 287(g) Agreement 

empowers Davidson County Sheriff’s Office (“DCSO”) deputies to perform law enforcement 
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8. Plaintiff Rosa Landaverde has held Temporary Protected Status since 2001. She 

is a native and citizen of El Salvador At all times relevant to this action, she has resided in 

Davidson County, Tennessee.  

9. Defendant Metropolitan Government of Nashville and Davidson County 

(“Metro Government”)  is an incorporated, legal subdivision of the State of Tennessee. Metro 

Government is governed by a Mayor and a Metro Council, subject to the organic document 

enabling its creation – the Metro Charter – and the Tennessee Constitution and Tennessee Code 

Annotated. 

10. Defendant United States Immigration and Customs Enforcement Agency 

(“ICE”) is an executive agency of the United States Department of Homeland Security. ICE is 

charged with enforcing federal immigration law consistent with the laws and Constitution of the 

United States. ICE first entered this action as a c
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12. Section 16.05 of the Metro Charter specifies that the Sheriff of Davidson County 

“shall have such duties as are prescribed by Tennessee Code Annotated 8-8-201, or by other 

provisions of general law; except, that within the area of the metropolitan government the sheriff 

shall not be the principal conservator of the peace. The function as principal conservator of the 

peace is hereby transferred and assigned to the metropolitan chief of police, provided for by 

article 8, chapter 2 of this Charter.” (emphasis added)  

13. Article 8, chapter 2 of the Charter sets forth the “responsibility and powers” of the 
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enforcement role outside the correctional program. The Nashville Metropolitan Police 

Department maintains all authority to conduct law enforcement functions, including arrests of 

violators.” 

B. The 287(g) Agreement Empowers DCSO Deputies to Perform Law Enforcement 
Functions  
 
17. The Metro Government entered into its current 287(g) Agreement with ICE in 

October of 2009. 

18. By its terms, the Agreement delegates certain federal immigration law 

enforcement powers to qualified DCSO deputies called “Jail Enforcement Officers.” 

19. The Agreement delegates to DCSO Jail Enforcement Officers:  

a. “the power and authority to interrogate any person believed to be an alien as 

to his right to be in the United States (INA § 287(a)(1) and 8 C.F.R. § 

287.5(a)(1))”;  

a. the “power and authority to administer oaths and to take and consider 

evidence (INA § 287(b) and 8 C.F.R. § 287.5(a)(2))”;  

b. the “power and authority to serve warrants of arrest for immigration violations 

pursuant to INA § 287(a) and 8 C.F.R. § 287.5(e)(3)[.]”; 

c. “the power and authority to prepare charging documents”; and 

a. the “power and authority to issue immigration detainers (INA § 236, INA § 

287, and 8 C.F.R. § 287.7) and I-213, Record of Deportable/Inadmissible 

Alien, for processing aliens in categories established by ICE supervisors[.]” 

20. The 287(g) Agreement states its express intent “to enable the DCSO to identify 

and process immigration violators and conduct criminal investigations under ICE supervision[.]” 
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Race,” “Law Exam I,” “Document Examination,” “Immigration Law,” “Law Exam II,” “Alien 

Encounters,” “Re-Entry After Removal,” “I-213 Prep,” “Removal Charges,” “Consular 

Notification,” “Alien Processing,” and “Intel Overview.” 

27. Through their training, DCSO 287(g) deputies are required to complete 

Classroom Exercises in which they must demonstrate knowledge of the federal immigration and 

criminal laws, and the sources of power and authority by which immigration officers enforce 

these laws. 

28. These training materials distinguish between “booking information” and other 

information DCSO 287(g) Jail Enforcement Officers may collect during their interrogations. The 

training manual states, “If the alien invokes his right to counsel, an immigration officer can only 

ask the alien about ‘booking information’ such as t
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D. DCSO 287(g) Officers Perform Federal Law Enforcement Investigations  
 
31. When law enforcement officers make an arrest in Davidson County, they 

normally complete an arrest report indicating the arrestee’s place of birth. 

32. Once the arrestee arrives at the DCSO for booking, DCSO deputies may inquire 

about the arrestee’s nationality as part of the biographic information they collect during the 

booking process. 

33. If information obtained during arrest and booking indicates that an arrestee may 

be foreign-born, a DCSO booking deputy places a red stamp that reads, “ICE” on the arrestee’s 

paperwork. 

34. That paperwork is then placed in a queue for further investigation by a DCSO Jail 

Enforcement Officer. 

35. Pursuant to the 287(g) contract, DCSO Jail Enforcement Officers may prepare 

and issue a federal immigration detainer, “Form I-247, Immigration Detainer – Notice of 

Action.” 

36. The detainer – also called an “ICE Hold” – requests that the DCSO keep the 

inmate in custody for up to forty-eight additional hours (not including weekends and federal 



9 

39. The federal investigation into an arrestee’s immigration status occurs primarily 

through an interrogation by a DCSO 287(g) Jail Enforcement Officer. 

40. This federal investigation and the interrogation require DCSO Jail Enforcement 

Officers to apply their training and knowledge of federal immigration law to determine whether 
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47. These documents constitute the record DHS will use against the inmate in 

removal proceedings. 

48. Among them is Form I-213, Record of Deportable/Inadmissible Alien. 

49. The DCSO Jail Enforcement Officer prepares this record and presents it to the 

ICE Supervisor for review, approval, and signature. 

50. ICE training of DCSO deputies clarifies the critical role of the I-213 in removal 

proceedings: “The use of the I-213 creates a historical record of information which, since it is 

used as evidence in removal proceedings, must be complete and accurate. A properly completed 

I-213 then provides the basis for successful processing of the alien and stands as primary 

evidence of alienage and removability.” 

51.  DCSO Jail Enforcement Officers have been reminded by their ICE supervisor 

that, “the I-213 is the evidence that is submitted to the judge that the alien was properly 

interviewed.” 

52. In addition to the I-213, DCSO 287(g) Jail Enforcement Officers are also 

authorized to prepare and sign Form I-877. The first full paragraph of text on the first page of 

Form I-877 reads: “I am an officer of the United States Immigration and Naturalization Service, 

authorized by law to administer oaths and take testimony in connection with the enforcement of 

the Immigration and Nationality laws of the United States. I desire to take your sworn statement 

regarding: Immigration status, criminal record and criminal conduct.” 

53. Lying to a DCSO Jail Enforcement Officer after being placed under oath 

constitutes perjury under federal law. 

54. The second question on Form I-877 is “Do you wish to have a lawyer or any other 

person present to advise you?”  

Case 3:11-cv-00218   Document 30-1    Filed 04/19/11   Page 10 of 28 PageID #: 841



11 

55. The following nine pages of Form I-877 contain questions designed by ICE to 

elicit admissions of civil and criminal liability on a wide range of immigration-related topics. 

56. DCSO Jail Enforcement Officers also prepare, sign, and present to the subjects of 

their investigations other law enforcement documents, including the Notice to Appear in 

Immigration Court (a charging document), the Warrant for Arrest of Alien, and, when 

appropriate, a Notice of Intent/Determination to Reinstate a Prior Removal Order. 

E. The DCSO’s 287(g) Investigation and Unlawful Detention of Daniel Renteria 

57. Metro Police Department Officer Rickey Bearden arrested Daniel Renteria at his 

home in Davidson County on Sunday, August 22, 2010,
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71. This 287(g) interrogation occurred in a small office within the DCSO’s 

administrative area at the CJC between 12:26 p.m. and 1:09 p.m. on August 24. The sign above 

the door on this small office reads, “ICE OFFICE.”  

72. Upon information and belief, a computer terminal inside this ICE office is 

equipped with ICE’s IDENT/ENFORCE software and database.  

73. Upon information and belief, the IDENT/ENFORCE system is used by DCSO 

287(g) Jail Enforcement Officers to collect and share with ICE and other law enforcement 

agencies investigative information DCSO deputies gather during 287(g) encounters with 

suspected foreign-born inmates. 

74. Upon information and belief, a DCSO 287(g) Jail Enforcement Officer utilized 

the IDENT/ENFORCE system and other computer technology during Daniel Renteria’s 

interrogation on August 24, 2010.  

75. During this interrogation, a male DCSO 287(g) Jail Enforcement Officer told 

Renteria that he was suspected of having lied about being born in the United States.  

76. Making a false claim to U.S. citizenship is a violation of federal criminal law. See 

18 U.S.C. § 911.  

77. The Jail Enforcement Officer asked Renteria the name of the hospital where he 

was born.  

78. Renteria truthfully answered that he was born at St. Vincent’s Hospital.  

79. Renteria’s answer, however, did not appear to allay the Jail Enforcement Officer’s 

suspicions about Renteria’s citizenship and immigra
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91. Renteria told the officer he used his U.S. passport and social security card when 

he applied for his state I.D. 

92. Tennessee law requires applicants to demonstrate proof of U.S. citizenship or 

other lawful immigration status as a pre-requisite for obtaining a valid, state-issued I.D. T.C.A. § 

55-50-303(a)(9).  

93. Using a false identification document is a federal crime. See 18 U.S.C. § 1028. 

94. The DSCO Jail Enforcement Officer who conducted the 287(g) interrogation did 

not lift the ICE Investigative Hold when the interrogation ended.  

95. Nor did the DCSO Jail Enforcement Officer tell Renteria what, if anything, he 

could do to prove his U.S. citizenship to the DCSO and get the ICE Hold removed. 

96. At or around 12:52 p.m. on September 3, 2010 the DCSO became aware via the 

JMS that a Davidson County General Sessions Judge dismissed the charge for which Renteria 

was arrested on August 22, 2010.  

97. At 9:56 p.m. on September 3, 2010, DCSO deputy or employee “W. Ford” 

deactivated Renteria’s “ICE Investigative Hold” imposed by DCSO several days earlier.  

98. “W. Ford” lifted the ICE Investigative Hold only after two of Renteria’s relatives 

brought his original birth certificate and original passport to the CJC late in the evening on 

September 3, 2010. 

99. A DCSO employee made a copy of these documents, returned the originals, and 

kept the copies. 

100. Even after DCSO employees had original documents proving Renteria’s U.S. 

citizenship and made photocopies of those documents at around 10:00 p.m. on September 3, it 

took almost three more hours for Defendants to release him. 
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101. The DCSO released Renteria at 12:48 a.m. on September 4, 2010. 

102. The twelve hours Renteria spent in Defendant DCSO’s custody after his charge 

was dismissed were a direct result of the DCSO’s 287(g) Program and the ICE Investigative 

Hold placed on Renteria by DCSO Jail Enforcement Officers. 

103. However, no Jail Enforcement Officer or ICE agent ever lodged an I-247, 

Immigrant Detainer – Notice of Action against Renteria, as required by 8 C.F.R. § 287.7(d). 

104. Renteria is of Latino race, ethnicity, and appearance. 

105. He is a native Spanish-speaker of limited English proficiency. 

106. Constance Taite has previously stated that DCSO jail inmates who claim to be 

U.S. Citizens will be subjected to a 287(g) investigation if they speak “little English.” 

107. Despite documentary proof that he is a natural born citizen of the United States, 

Renteria’s name and documents were retained by DCSO Jail Enforcement Officer Marty 

Patterson.  

108. Patterson retained these documents for his own “personal file,” and did not 

disclose the existence of this file in response to an Open Records Request made by Renteria’s 

undersigned attorney. 

109. Patterson also seized Renteria’s Tennessee Identification Document card during 

the 287(g) interrogation for the purposes of using it as evidence in the federal law enforcement 

investigation of Renteria.  

110. This I.D. card has not been returned, despite repeated requests by both Renteria 

and his undersigned attorney. 
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111. Renteria’s name and the names and immigration status information of his family 

members remain in at least one federal database as a result of the 287(g) investigation DCSO 

officers conducted. 

112. Renteria is suffering ongoing, actual harm as a result of the DCSO’s illegal 

interrogation and investigation of him and his family. 

F. The DCSO’s Unlawful Investigation of David Gutierrez 

113. An officer of the Metro Police Department arrested David Gutierrez following a 

traffic accident on April 12, 2010. 

114. He was booked into the DCSO’s Criminal Justice Center facility shortly after 

being arrested.  

115. Upon information and belief, Gutierrez’s booking records correctly indicated that 

he was not born in the United States.  

116. Upon information and belief, a DCSO Deputy placed on ICE Hold on Mr. 

Gutierrez on or about April 12, 2010. 

117. Upon information and belief, a DCSO deputy placed a red stamp that reads “ICE” 

on Gutierrez’s intake and booking paperwork and dropped that paperwork into a box for DCSO’s 

287(g) Jail Enforcement Officers to retrieve.  

118. Upon information and belief, DCSO 287(g) Jail Enforcement Officers initiated a 

federal law enforcement investigation of Gutierrez to determine his immigration status, and also 

to determine whether he had any violated federal criminal laws. 

119. Soon after he entered DCSO custody, Gutierrez was interrogated in the DCSO 

287(g) “ICE” Office by a DCSO 287(g) Jail Enforcement Officer. 
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120. The Jail Enforcement Officer asked Gutierrez where he was born. Gutierrez 

replied that he was born in Honduras. 

121. The Jail Enforcement Officer then asked Gutierrez if he is a U.S. citizen or 

Permanent Resident of the United States, or if he had any other form of legal authorization to be 

and remain in the United States. Gutierrez indicated that he is a Lawful Permanent Resident of 

the United States.  

122. The Jail Enforcement Officer asked Gutierrez for his social security number. 

Gutierrez recited his social security number. The interrogator typed the numbers Gutierrez 

provided into the ICE computer terminal located inside the DCSO’s “ICE Office.”  

123. After reviewing the computer screen, the DCSO 287(g) Officer indicated to 

Gutierrez that he would not have any problems with immigration at this juncture in his case.  

124. Gutierrez’s criminal defense attorney has reached a plea agreement that will 
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127. David Gutierrez will re-enter the DCSO Jail system, and because he was not born 

in the United States, he will be subjected to the DCSO’s 287(g) investigation.  

128. DCSO’s stated policy requires the DCSO to lodge an ICE Hold against Gutierrez 

and conduct a law enforcement investigation into his right to remain in the United States in light 

of his two new criminal convictions. 

129. It was DCSO’s policy as of January 7, 2010 to automatically classify inmates with 

ICE Holds as medium security inmates.  

130. A 287(g) investigation by DCSO Jail Enforcement Officers will adversely impact 

Gutierrez’s liberty by (a) automatically subjecting him to medium security classification; (b) 

subjecting him to additional constraints and conditions on his release from DCSO custody; and 

(c) subjecting him to an additional 287(g) law enforcement investigation into his right to remain 

in the United States as a Lawful Permanent Resident. 

G. Metro Government’s Unlawful Expenditure of Plain



20 

137. Pursuant to 8 U.S.C. § 1357(g)(1) and the 287(g) Agreement, all 287(g)-related 

duties performed by these 11 employees must be performed at the expense of the Metro 

Government. 

138. The DCSO receives funding, in whole or in part, for the salaries of the 8 

corrections officers, 2 supervisors, and 1 Director who administer the 287(g) program, from the 

Metro Government’s “GSD General Fund 10101” account. 

139. In Fiscal Year 2010-2011, approximately 52% of the Metro Government’s tax 

revenues came from property taxes.  

140. In Fiscal Year 2010-2011, approximately 17% of the Metro Government’s tax 

revenues came from property taxes. 

141. All Plaintiffs therefore have standing as municipal taxpayers for preliminary and 

permanent injunctive relief to prevent the continued misuse of their municipal tax dollars by the 

Metro Government on the illegal 287(g) program. 

CAUSES OF ACTION 
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145. Plaintiffs’ legal rights have been adversely affected by Defendant Metro 

Government’s actions under the 287(g) Agreement. T.C.A. § 29-14-103.  

146. A real and actual controversy exists between Plaintiffs and Defendant Metro 

Government concerning the legality of the 287(g) Agreement under the Metro Charter. 

147. Plaintiffs claim the DCSO’s 287(g) law enforcement investigation and 

interrogation of them exceeds the Sheriff’s powers under the Metro Charter, that the Metro 

Council violated mandatory provisions of the Metro Charter by approving the 287(g) Agreement, 

and that the Agreement is therefore void. 

148. Defendant Metro Government maintains the 287(g) Agreement is valid in all 

respects. 

149. A declaratory judgment as to the validity of the Agreement under the Metro 

Charter would resolve this controversy.  

150. Plaintiffs therefore seek a declaratory judgment declaring that the Metro Council 

acted ultra vires by approving the 287(g) Agreement, that the Agreement is void ab initio, and 

that the expenditure of municipal taxpayer funds on the Agreement’s performance violates the 

Metro Charter and state law governing the Metro Government’s use of taxpayer dollars. 

151. Plaintiffs also seek a preliminary and then a permanent injunction halting the 

performance of the 287(g) Agreement. 
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153. ICE’s approval of the 287(g) Memorandum of Agreement constitutes final agency 

action.  

154. There is no other adequate remedy in court for challenging this final agency 

action.  

155. 8 U.S.C. § 1357(g)(1) explicitly provides that federal immigration law 

enforcement functions may be performed by state and local law enforcement officers only “to the 

extent consistent with State and local law.”  

156. The DCSO’s 287(g) program violates Sections 16.05, 8.202 and 2.01(36) of the 

Metro Charter and the Tennessee Supreme Court’s holding in Metropolitan Government of 

Nashville and Davidson County v. Poe, which construes the Metro Charter as making an 

exclusive vestment of law enforcement power in the Metropolitan Police Department.  

157. Because the local party to the 287(g) Agreement cannot perform the Agreement’s 

delegated federal law enforcement functions “consistent with State and local law,” ICE’s 

participation in and supervision of the DCSO’s 287(g) Program is in excess of statutory authority 

and short of statutory right. 5 U.S.C. § 706(a)(2).  
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161. No statute precludes judicial review. 

162. Plaintiffs seek a declaratory judgment that their investigation by the DCSO 

pursuant to the 287(g) Agreement and ICE’s supervision violated the APA and 8 U.S.C. § 

1357(g). 

COUNT III  
Violation of the Fourteenth Amendment Due Process Clause 

(42 U.S.C. § 1983, Bivens) 
Plaintiff Renteria against the Metro Government and ICE  

 
 

163. Plaintiffs hereby adopt and incorporate by reference the allegations contained in 

all paragraphs above.  

164. The following practices of Defendant Metro Government violated Plaintiffs’ right 

to due process of law guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States 

Constitution: 

a. Subjecting Renteria to custodial interrogation for the purpose of obtaining 

evidence of criminal violations without advising him of his right to counsel;  

b. Imprisoning without probable cause after the release of his state charges, and 

without the issuance of a Form I-247 detainer;  

c. Failing to give Renteria notice and an opportunity to be heard regarding the 

grounds for the DCSO detainer before imprisoning him pursuant to it; and 

d. Seizing Renteria’s Tennessee State I.D. card and never returning it. 

165. The imprisonment of Renteria on the basis of a false detainer without due process 

was carried out under the guise of the 287(g) authority delegated by ICE to DCSO Jail 

Enforcement Officers. 
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166. Upon information and belief, this imprisonment was the result of a DCSO custom, 

policy, and/or practice of deliberate indifference on the part of the DCSO and ICE supervisors 

charged with administering the 287(g) Agreement.  

167. Plaintiff seeks compensatory damages against the Metro Government and a 

declaratory judgment against the Metro Government and ICE declaring that his right to due 

process was violated. 

COUNT IV 
False Imprisonment  

Plaintiff Renteria against Metro Government 
 

168. Plaintiffs hereby adopt and incorporate by ref
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S.W.2d 265, 275 (Tenn. 1964), by allowing the DCSO to interrogate inmates 

and take and consider evidence as part of a federal law enforcement function 

that is not necessary and incidental to the Sheriff’s role as custodian of the jail 

and civil process-server, and that the Agreement is consequently invalid; and  

2. Defendant Metro Government acted ultra vires by approving and 

implementing a contract that violates the mandatory provisions of the Metro 

Charter, and the contract is consequently void ab initio;  

3. Defendant Metro Government’s expenditure of municipal tax revenues on the 

287(g) program violates the Metro Charter and state law governing the 

expenditure of tax revenues by municipal corporations;  

4. Defendants Metro Government and ICE violated Plaintiff Renteria’s right 

under the Fourteenth Amendment to due process; 

(b) Issue a Preliminary and then a Permanent Injunction enjoining the Metro 

Government, by and through the DCSO, from continuing to execute the 287(g) 

Agreement; or, in the alternative, issue a Preliminary and then a Permanent 

Injunction enjoining the DCSO from performing the following functions because 

the performance of these functions violates the Metro Charter and Metro v. Poe:  

1. Authorizing, allowing, or directing DCSO personnel to perform the federal 

immigration law enforcement function of “interrogation,” as delegated in 

Appendix D of the Agreement and defined at 8 U.S.C. § 1357(a)(1) and 8 

C.F.R. § 287.5(a)(1); and  

2. Authorizing, allowing or directing DCSO personnel to perform the federal 

immigration law enforcement functions of “tak[ing] and consider[ing] 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 This is to certify that a true and correct copy of the foregoing has been served by 
electronic means via the U.S. District Court’s electronic filing system on April 19, 2011 on:  
 
Laura Barkenbus Fox 
Assistant Metropolitan Attorney 
Department of Law 
Metro Courthouse 
One Public Square — Suite 108 
P.O. Box 196300 
Nashville, TN 37219-6300 
 
Keli Oliver 
Assistant Metropolitan Attorney 
Department of Law 
Metro Courthouse 
One Public Square — Suite 108 
P.O. Box 196300 
Nashville, TN 37219-6300 
 
Elizabeth A. Sanders 
Assistant Metropolitan Attorney 
Department of Law 
Metro Courthouse 
One Public Square — Suite 108 
P.O. Box 196300 
Nashville, TN 37219-6300 
 
Jerry E. Martin 
United States Attorney 
Middle District of Tennessee 
 
Mark H. Wildasin 
Assistant United States Attorney 
110 9th Ave. South, Suite A-961 
Nashville, Tennessee 37203-3780 
 
Tony West 
Assistant Attorney General 
 
David J. Kline 
Director 
 
Joshua E.T. Braunstein 
Assistant Director 

Case 3:11-cv-00218   Document 30-1    Filed 04/19/11   Page 27 of 28 PageID #: 858



28 

 


